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PREFACE

Each year students In the History 1IB Class are asked in
Flrst Term to research a paper on some aspect of the History of
Australia before Federation that Interests them, basing their
work, wherever possible, on primary sources. Some of these papers
reach high standards, and not Infrequently make original
contributions to the understanding of our hlstory, especially to
the local history of thils reglon.

This collection of flve of the papers presented thls year
has been a§sembled to make the frults of some of this research
avallable to others, and at the same time to show students the
standard of work that can be achleved. These essays are not
necessarily the best essays, but they are good ones and are
technically well presented. They have been chosen, however, move
to demonstrate the variety of Issues that Interest studsnts:
local as well as natlonal; female as well as maile; black as well
and white.

They display a solld background and provide an insight Into
several themes developed during the First Tarm. |In thls way they
constitute a useful supplement to the course and should prove
Interesting reading.

it s hoped that this project wlll continue from year to year
both to encourage research and originality and to slowly bulld up
a body of material to which later students can refer.

Carol Bacch!
Peter Hempenstall
Noel Rutherford




RACE AGAINST TIME

by Christine Misko

'SYNOPSIS

Early unfavourable descriptions of the Australlan Aboriglines:
tended to shape the attitudes of Indifference which prevented the
recording of valuable objective data of the nomadic experlience.

The change In attitude,concomitant with Increasing knowledge,
generated Interest and ultimately recognised the existence of a
complex aboriginal culture. The reallsation that the Aborigine

and his way of |1fe presented vast opportunities for extenslive
research, and the bellef in the Inevitable extinction of this race,
accelerated research iIn order to extract as .much Information as
possible before the Aborigines dlsappeared from the face of the
earth. Although 'the Tyranny of Distance' prevents an accurate
reconstruction of the past, the current co-operative inter- i = i
disclplinary approach Is ylelding valuable Information about the
Australlan nomad. Specifically, gemetic distance data Is belng
correlated with geographic and Illnguistic distances to shed new

Iight on the origins, racial affinitles and migration patterns
of the Australian Aborigines.

When the Australian Abotlgines witnessed the arrival of the
First Fleet In 1788 and subsequent establlshment of the first
European colony In Australla, |ltftle did they realise that they
would become subjects for lively debate and research in the time
to follow. Nor did they apprehend that thelr 'Dreamtime' philosophy
would be matched by a nightmare reality In the very near future.
For the white man proceeded to usurp aborlginal tribal territory
which was not only an economic necessity for the hunter-gatherers,
but also a spiritual necessity. Deprivation of thelr anclient lands
which harboured the Immortal works of thelr spirltual ancestors
meant spliritual annihilation for the Aborigines as the link with
their ancestral spirits, thelr ‘Dreamtime’, In which ftay thelr
origins and raison d'etre, was severed. A native saying, *
paraphrased, reveals the bellief that "He who loses his dreaming
is lost®. (I) Because of the absence of a visible Ilnk with tThe
land, the early settlers were unaware of any terrestrial relationships
and assumed that the Aborigines could move elsewhere. Certainly,
the Aborigines were not consulted about the distribution of
European settlement. Indeed, they were not even Informed that
Australia In 1ts entirety was appropriated In the name of
King George |Il. Some of the sentiments felt by the Aboriglines
as they eventually comprehended the full Impact of the white man's
arrival are expressed In the following verses of a ftribal land
rights song:

“The only thing that's wrong my boy
Is that we were never told

That this applied to the tribal land
That we were pledged to hold.

If Governor Philllip landed here

And tried to take Yirrkala

It wouldn't have taken us very long
To fix that English fella®. (2)

Dampier's famous deécrlpflon of the Abbrlglnes was prematurs;
they were yet to become 'the miserablest creatures on earth'.

The plethora of early unfavourable accounts of the Aboriglines
was a dlirect result of prevallling attitudes, belliefs and lack of
understanding and apprecliation of a different way of |lfe.
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idThe Aborigines were seen through European eyes with vision blurred
juy ldeological blindfolds and superficlal knowledge. Thus nakedness
yfwas synonomous with savagery. The lack of sepulchres interpreted
a5 a slgn of cannibalism. Absence of permanent dwellings and paucity
fof matertal acquisitions was judged as reflecting poverty. The
#lcuisine based on hunter-gatherer activities was thought to ba
indicative of a haphazard, brink-of starvation exlistence. The
Aborigines' essentials for life did not correspond with the white
man's version. These early opinions were instrumental! In shaping
attitudes towards the dark Inhabitants. The Initial government
policy, although welli-intentioned, amounted to an Imposition of
European culture onto this seemingly wretched, godless and almless
nomad. They were to be heiped to enter "the white man's Pearly Gates™
(3) to clivilization. Even before the death of Truganini In 1876
which complieted the genocide of the entire Tasmanian population,
the Aborigines were considered as a temporary feature of the
Australian landscape, scheduled for extinction by natural progression
and to be survived by the superfior Anglo-Saxon race.

A

The plcture of an almless, barbarlic wanderer began to fade,
however, wlth Increasing knowledge concomitant with assocliation
over the years. The anthropoiogist endowed aborliginal society with
complexities which In turn generated Interest and provided
opportunlity for studlies. Gradually, It was realised that the
Aborigine presented a unique situation for the study of stone age
culture and stone age man, with the possibiliity of ylelding valuable
insights Into giobal history. The observed decline in aboriglinal
numbers which eariler tended to support the doomed race theory and
justi fy Indifference and brutalifty now emphasised the Importance
of research before this anclent race vanished from the face of the
earth. Although the Aborigines have outlived the doomsday predictions
and currently number about 45,000 fuli-blooded Aborigines, the
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| race against time is still relevant If one is to obtalin a final
¥ glimpse of the nomadic experience before it Is supplanted. It is
) vital to record all aspects of traditional aboriginal |ife before

di they are superimposed by inevitable changes. The vulnerabifity

to deterioration and vandalism of aboriginal matertal cuiture such

{ as bone tools, wooden spears, canoe trees, ceremonial stone

{ arrangements and rock art glves added urgency to this race. Finding

T and preserving aboriginal sites which are a unique legacy of human

! behaviour is of utmost significance. However, the Implicit
difficulties In studying the illiterate aboriginal civilization with

1 its fack of monuments, tombs and paucity of archaeological

' paraphernaiia Is offset by the privileged opportunity of being able

to observe the few surviving remnant nomadic popuiations in the wor!d.

Currently, scholars from many diverse branches are approachling
‘ aboriginal studies with an objective attitude and with a sense of
urgency of a corroboree. The multi-disciplinary approach by
. biologists, historians,; geoiogists, anthropologists, Ifnguists
] and ecologists has increased the conceptual framework and the P
possibility of a more detalled picture. For instance, studies In
genetlcs and lingulstics are contributing an interpretation of
| Aboriginal origins, raclial affinitles and movements before the
. European invasion. Although archaeological evidence reveals the
f presence of man In Australia about 30.000BP testified by the
' radio-carbon dated sites at Kellor 31,000 + 1100 and at
| - 1300
' Koonalda Cave 31.000 + 1650 BP (4) it Is still equlivocal whether

the entire area was occupied by one raclial type or by a diverslity
f of racial types concurrentiy or successlively.

| However classified raclally, the Australian Aboriglne belongs
to the species Homo sapiens which shared a common gene pool at the
time of the first emergence of fully sapient man from eariler
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homonoids some 100.000 to 200.000 years ago. (5) From this initial
common ancestry an enormous varlety of physical (and cultural)
diversity has been achluved on an Indlvidual, populatlion and raclal
level. This diversity Is explained In terms of the evolutionary
process, both Darwlnlan and non-Darwinian, Involving the

mechanisms of adaptation, natural selection, modificatlion by
progressive and non-progresslve mutations, and by the chance component
within evolutionary theory of random drift and change. Early
attempts to classify raclal affinities and origins of the

Australlan Aborigines were based on observable dlfferences and
morphometric studies. The observation of difference In physlognomy
in Ilving aboriglinal populations prompted Tindale and Blrdsell
(1941) to undertake extensive studies which resulted In the tri-~
hybrid theory of oridin of the Australian Aborigine. (Birdsell, 1968).
The earliest of the migrant groups envisaged by Blrdsell were the
Oceanic Negrlitos, identifiable with the extinct Tasmanians,
Barrineans of the rain-forest In Queensliand, south-eastern Victoria,
south-western Western Australia and In the Melville and Bathurst
Islands off the Northern Territory. Birdsell's second migrant

wave, the Murrayians, who occuplied the Murray River basin, were
rejarded as a primitive Caucasoid variant. The third major racial
element to enter Australia, the Carpentarians, were seen as

Veddold elements from India.

Although regional dlversity In physical attributes exists
betwecen populations of Aboriaines, 1t is not clear whether these
differences developed internally from a uni-racial population or
resulted from hybridisation of two or more distinct races.
Proponents of the uni-racial composition of the Aborigines explaln

the variatlion by geographical isolatlion, environmental adaptation,
random drift and the channelling of gene flow by culturai factors
regulating breeding habits such as language barrlers. |Interestingly,

Abbie (1968) in studylng morphological criteria of Aborigines in
South Australla, Northern Terrlitory and Western Australia, has
confldently concluded that data presented for statlistical analysls
showed "that the Aborigines under study, whether considered by
region, or by group or as a whole, are In fact physically homogenous

and the statlstician considers the finding conclusive™. In tracing
the evolutionary ftree of ten populations Including the Australian
Aborligines, Cavalil-Sforza (1974) asserts that characteristics such

as body size, faclial traits and skin colour are superficlal and
represent adaptations to specific climatic conditions: “the Interface
between the body and the environment, particularly the climatic
dimension of the environment, Is the body surface®. (6)

The recent application of genetlic analysls measuring gene
frequencles and variatlions has provided a more reflined method of
measuring human dlverslity. Some genetically overt tralits such as
skin colour and stature are strongly modulated by varlations of
the environment, whereas many cryptic tralts such as those expressed
by human blood systems are far iess Influenced by environmental
variation and provide sultable markers to measure the homogeneity
of a population. Gene frequencies whlch are the calculated
frequencies of alleles controlling the expression of phenotypic
traits such as blood groups, can quantify the genetlic differences
in aboriginal populations and thereby establish regional genetic
distance. In fact, genetic differentiation based on analyses of
blood groups, serum proteins, and enzyme systems |s cleariy
demonstrable among living popuiations of aborigines, varying
considerably from locality to locality. Furthermore, It seems that
genetic distances are highly correlated wlth geographic distance,
acceentuated by sea barriers Iin the case of island tribes inhabiting
Melville and Bathurst Isiands. Moreover, 1t appears that
geographic separation produces both genetic and |inguistic
differentiation. Though there is a slightly lower correlation
between geographic distance and |linguistic distance, as seen by
the lingulistic relationshlp between the Aranda In Central Australia
and the Malag of north-east Arnhem Land. Both belong to the Pama-
Nyungan phyilic family which is structurally different from the
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.5t of the languages In Arnhem Land. Also, genetically these tribes
ars more closely related than Is Indicated by thelr geographlc
position. This suggests a split of a larger population and a
migratory trend eastwards. In addition, the genetic dlstance of

the north-east Arnhem Land tribe and Its geographic nelghbours
supports the hypothesls that language Is an Important soclo-cultural
isolating mechanl!sm, which In influencing breeding hablts, can also
in furn lead to genetic differentlation.

The theory of a mohogeneous origin of the Aboriglne and the
suggestion by Kirk (1971) that differentiation can be Internally
achleved within a 10,000 year span Is supported by the observation

of the great linguistic and genetlic divergences characterising the
more densely populated areas of the north. Here there Is a greater
gene pool and consequently greater scope for diversity. In fact,

this northern area represents all the 25 phylilc family groups of
languages into which the 200 to 300 languages spoken In Australla
are classlfiled. These languages show a remarkable phonologlcal
uniformity over the greater part of the continent. The speakers
of the large Pam -Nyungan phyllic family occupy the largest but most
sparse y populated area of Australia and are genetically less
divergent. Thls shows that population denslities Influenced by
climatic and environmental factors, such as the avallabillity of
food, "have Influenced breeding patterns within communities as well
as the mobilifty and consequently the rates of gene flow between
groups", (7)

The Cape York populatlons are of particular Interest because of
their genetic remoteness, but linguistlc simifarities, to the
Pam-Nyungan phyllic family group of languages. This may Indicate
that the Pama-Nyungan group was numerically small, but a
lingulistlically strong population; which moved southwards leaving a
remnant group In Cape York.

The absence of certain genes such as Ay, S, rh, and the sickle-
cell trait gene marker assoclated with slickle-cell anaemia, (8)
and thelr presence In African Negroes and Negritos, suggests no
relationship between Oceanic Negritos and African pygmy groups. ‘
The extensive data on blood group gene frequencies for the African,
Aslan and Oceanlc groups disagree with Birdsell's statement that
'of the great Negrold race only the Negritos succeeded In reaching
southeast Asia and Australasla’. (9) There is no genetlic evldence
of an African Negritold element contribution to the Australlan
aboriginal population. In fact, a recent article by Benvenliste
and Todaro (1976) presents evidence for an Aslan orlgin of man
Indicating that the Australian Aboriolne evolved before the
African Negroes.

Comparisons between Ncw Gulinean and Australlian populations
reveal the widespread presence of the allele "G, Aborigine”
in Melanesla, its occurrence In Cape York and towards the Kimberleys,
its very low frequency In the central areas of . Australia, and Its
virtual absence in the western desert. Thls reflects considerabis
contact, probably dating back to 8000 BP and earlier, during the
existence of the land bridge between Australia and New Guinea.
The opportunity for migration or major contact was undoubtedly
severely lessened by the flooding of the causeway between New Guinea
and Australia. The evidence in favour of lImited contact Is perhaps
borne out by the dcvelopment of distinctlive human activity, such as
agriculture and pig~farming in New Guinea, and the absence of this
activity on the Australian landscape.

In view of the geographlical realitlies such as the exlIstence
of the land bridge, conducive to migration and the subsequent
formation of Torres Strait between 8000 to 5000 BP, 1t 1s plauslibte
to assume that Australla may have been populated by heterogeneous
man at one stage In history. The morpholiglcal dlfferences of skulls
from different localities of specimens older than 10,000 BP suggests
a heterogeneous presence. However, the genetlc distance between



current aboriginal populatlions could have accumulated within a
homogeneous populatlion by In*ernal migration of the varlous sub-
populations, mutation, selectlon and genetlc drift durlng
geographlc Isolation, I+ 1s quite possible that a homogeneous
population supplanted earlier Inhabltants prior to Australla's
separatlon from New Guinea. The Introduction of fresh genes

by occasslonal contact through Torres Stralt or by casual visitors
In the north cannot be dlscounted.

Post-contact aboriginal history may be summarised by
two Ilnes: &
"1 could tell you of heartbreak, hatred, blind,
| could tell’you of crimes that shame mankind". (10)

The pre-contact assessment is more compllicated. For a
detalled reconstruction of the past, It Is Important to conslder
and Integrate multl-discipllinary data. Fortunately, with the
current co-operative multi-disclipllinary approach ellciting
informatlion about the nomad's occupation of Australla, there Is
a greater chance to succeed In the race agalnst time.

FOOTNOTES

(1) B.Harney, Songs of the Songman, Adelalde, 1968, p.l.
S.Harris, This Is our Land, Canberra, 1972, p.9:
L.Lippmann, To Achleve our Country, Melbourne, 1970, p.6.
(4) V.R.Kabo, Prolisskhozhdenie | Rannlala Istorlla Aborlgenov
Avstralil, Moscow, 1969, p.399.

(5) R.L.Kirk, Genetlc Dlverslity among Australlan Aborlgines,
Canberra, 1975, p.l.

(6) L.L. Cavalll-Sforza, “The Genetlcs of Human Populations',
Scientiflc Amerlcan, September 1974, p.87.

(7) R.L.Kirk, op.cit., p.81I.

(8) R.T.S!mmons, Blood Group Genetlc Studies In the Cape York
Area, Canberra, 1973, p.23.

(9) J.B.Birdsell, "Preliminary Data on the Trihybrid Origin of the
Australlan Aborigines', Oceanlc,|968, p.124,.

(10) W.McNally, Goodbye Dreamtime, Australla, 1973, prologue.
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CONV ICT OFFENCES: SHAW/ROBSON?

by Gary Luxford
SYNOPS |S

This paper sets out to dlscover, exactly, what type of
criminal offencesudre dominant amongst the convicts durilng the
transportation period from 1820 to 1852, with speclflic emphasls
upon the perlod after 1835, The Inltlal stimulation to Investligate
this questlonuis provided In the works of A.G.L.Shaw and L.Robson.

In an endeavour to arrive at some firm understanding of the
toplc, It was essentlal to outliine the development and functionling
of the British criminal law. Once thls had been done, 1t was
possible to survey relevant statistical data concernling the convicts.

The findings Indicate that petty crimes remaln the most
. umerous convict offence during the period from 1820 to 1852.
All that then remalned was to flnd some speclflic reasons
Indlcating why such & trend did occur,

"This (the new criminal law) meant that proportionately fewer
were even sentenced to transportation, and from thls time onwards
the crimes of those who were sentenced were Increasingly serlous
even |f by modern standards thelr punishment was very severe'.
(Shaw, 1966).

"The effect of these and subsequent changes In the criminal
law on transportation was slight. All they meant was that men who
previously ran the risk of belng hanged were now certalnly
transported (they usually were anyway), and that men who were
formerly llkely to be transported might escape wlith a goal sentence.
The important polnt to stress Is that the types of offences for
which men were sent to Australia altered scarcely at all. Thls
could be summed up by sayling that a man found gullty of stealling
money In, say, 1790 might be hanged, though he would probably be
transported for |ife, whereas the same offence In, say, 1840 would
be punished by seven years transportation, or perhaps a period In
prison', (Robson, 1970).

The above clted quotations succlinctly express two varylng
arguments concerning the criminal offences of the convicts sent to
Australla In the perliod from 1787 until 1852. Shavw (l) malntalns
that, after the onset of criminal law reform In the late 1820's
and early 1830's, there Is a change In the type of offences for
which criminals were sentenced to transportation. He malntalns
that as a result of criminal law reform, 'the crimes of those who
were sentenced were Increasingly serious'.

Robson (2) favours an entlirely different view. He malntalns
that, although there was a process of law reform In the middle of the
transportation era, the types of offences for which men (and women)
were transported to Australla altered scarcely at all. He belleves
that even after a reform of the criminal law, the proportion of :
petty offenders among the convicts remalned quite high.

The alm of this paper Is to survey the type of criminal
offences leadling to transportation. The specific objective will be
to see whether the type of offences remalned much the same before
and after any reform in the British criminal law. Yet, before
any conslideration can be given tp the question of convlcf offences,
It 1s necessary to gain some understanding of the movement towards
criminal law reform within Brltaln.
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A good general outline of England's criminal law during the
olghteenth contury would describe the letter of the law as severe
and sanguinary. However the manner and splirit of the law's
administration was totally different. "Often the Injured party,
reallizling a trivial damage became In law a caplital felony, refused
to prosecutc or altered the assessed damage so as to make the
offence a misdeameanour™, (3)

The Influence of such a dlivergence between the statute law
and the functioning of that law Is reflected Iin flgures recordlng
the Incidence of exec utlons. The ratlo of executions to capital
convictions In London and Middlesex (4) for the period from 1749
to 1758 was 2:3., Between 1790 and 1799 It was |:3 and for the
period 1800 to 1810 It had been reduced to |:7.

The development of the law concerning simple grand larceny
Is a good indicator of this general trend In the eighteenth century.
Thils particular law Is also Important because larceny crimes were
such 3 slgnificant proportlon of convict offences. (5) As the law
stood In the late elghteenth century, simple grand larceny was
theft unaccompanlied by any aggravating clircumstances; the
adjJective 'grand' denoted simpiy that the value of the stolen goods
exceeded twelve pence. |If It was twelve pence or under, the offence
was called a petty larcony and did not carry the death penalty. (6)
Many other petty offences (most of which were crimes of larceny)
were punishable with death but, as In the case of simple grand
larceny, punishment was usually commuted to terms of Imprisonment
or transportatlion. Such a sltuation was ridiculous because a
severe criminal law hardly ever observed In practise, offered no
fears to the criminal elements In soclety, nor did It act as a
deterrent to the Increasling Incidence of crime.

Sir Robent Peel, as Home Secretary, saw the need for law reform.
During the decade after 1820, he set about bringing the letter of
the law Intfo allgnment with the manner and splrit of Its
administration. (7)

In 1823 (8) It was enacted that a court could abstaln from
passing the death sentence on persons convicted of any crime except
murder. Thls meant that Jjudges were empowered to merely record
the death sentence and to Impose transportation directiy. The
Inevitable result was an Increase In the number of commuted death
sentences.

Another most Important blll passed In 1827 (9) abolished the
distinctlion between petty and grand larceny. Thils statute greatly
reduced the number of capltal felonies and made the punishment
of transportation a more certaln sentence. (10)

The process of criminal law reform continued Into the 1830's,
so that by 1839 the number of capital statutes had been reduced
to fourteen. (lI1) Not more than thirty years previously the number
had been something |lke two hundred and flfty.

The administering of the Brltish criminal law led to the
transportation of 148,000 convicts to N.S.W., and V.D.L. between
787 and 1852. (12) Of these, 123,000 were male and 25,000 were
female. From one half to two thirds of the convicts had formerly
been punished, while 80% were transported for larceny of varlous
kinds. (I13)

Shaw, |lke Robson, acknowliedges the high Inclidence of fheff
amongs the convict offences. However, they disagree on the
porportion of petty offenders amongst the total number of
transportees during the post law reform era.
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Shaw claims that after 1835 the British government provided for
Imprisonment as a 'clear alternative to transportation', yet
something lIlke 54% of all convicts transported to N.S.W. and
V.D.L. came out between 1830 and 1849. (I4) Shaw accounts for this
by suggesting that a signlficantly greater number of those
sentenced to transportation after 1835 (15) were actually conveyed
to the penal settlements (see Tabie One). He also asserts that
the proportion of petty offenders amongst these convicts Is
signlficantly less than the proportlon before the new criminal
legislation. The valldlity of such a contention can best be
ascertalned by observing relevant statistical data concerning the
convicts. °

During perlod number one (1787-1819) the Incldence of 'serfous'
offences (16) Is 6% of the total number of convicts transported
In that period. In tThe second perlod (1820-1852) the proportion
of 'serlous' offences had Increased, but only Insigniflicantiy,
to 7%. (17) :

The Inclidence of simplie larceny as a proportion of the total
number of felons transported the flrst period is 33%. During the
latter perlod the proportlon actually rose to 38%. Contrary to
Shaw's argument petty crime stl |l constltuted a signlficant
proportion of convict offences. Simllarly the petty crimes under
the heading of 'Offences Agalnst Property' (18) had Increased
from 63% of the total In the flrst perlod, to 84% of the total
number of offences In the second period. (19)

Even 1f one clalims that Shaw was referring speclflcally to the
period after 1835, the evidence stlll supports Robson's contention.
From 1830 to 1852 the proportion of serlous offences was 7% and
for offences agalnst property 85% (including 37% for simple
larceny) of the total number of convicts transported. (20)

All the above flgures indicate that the proportlon of serlous
offences remained a minor portlon of convict numbers. Thus Shaw's
appralsal Is proven to be fallaclous. All that remalns Is to find
a reason or reasons Indlicating why such large numbers of petty
criminals came to Australla between 1820 and (852,

An answer could be found by observing:the proportion of very
young offenders amongst the convicts. Between 1835 and 1839, 66%
of all persons convicted In Britaln were under 25 years of age,
whitle 50% were under 2| years of age. (2!):'This means that 20%
of the population were commlitting 55% of the crimes. (22)

Also, at least 55% of all convicts transported for simple larceny
came from the I5 to 24 years age group. (23)

A proportional Increase In the number of petty offenders
among transportees after 1820 could have resulted partly from an
Increase In the numbers belng sent from the under 25 age group. (24)
However, the lack of a set of tables Indlcating the offence, the
age of the offender, and the year of departure, makes thlis
hypothesls dlfflcult to verlfy.

Another explanatlion could be found In the Influences of an
efflclent police force, a reformed criminal law and a new form
of prosecutlion. Between 1814 and 1829 the ratio of convictlions to
charges (see Table Two) In London and Mliddlesex was 63% and for
the perlod 1830 to 1839 I+ was 72%. In the remalinder of England
the ratlos for the correspondling periods were 68% and 72%
respectively. (25)

It Is not unreasonable to suppose that as the number of
convictlons Increased so did the proportion of convicted petty
offenders. (26) Thus, the greater number of convictlons led to
more petty offenders belng sentenced to transportation, Thls
sltuatlon was compounded by the fact that between 1830 and 1852
greater numbers of prlisoners were belng conveyed to Australla
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because of the changlng sltuation on board the hulks and the
operatlion of the new criminal law.

The administration of the new crimlnal law galned a greatecr
level of honesty and efflclency wlith the advent of stlipendliary
maglstrates and publlc prosecutors. These maglistrates enforced
the law In a manner which added a greater certalnty to the form
punishment would take. Previously, many criminals had been
aqultted because the operating law and Its administration were
antlquated. Greater numbers now began to be prosecuted under a
more efflclent criminal code. Simllarly, many more minor offenders
(especlally during the 1830's) were transported under criminal laws
which made a speclflc provislion for such a punlshment.

However, the contributlion of the new criminal law to the number
of petty offenders transported after 1830 was dependent upon the
changing situatlon on board the hulks.

At 1833...the men of the worst character, and those previously
convicted for serlous offences belng sent flrst...However, after
1833 the position changed and by 1835 It had been ordered that all
the men on the hulks be transported¥. (27) Thus, prlor to 1835
a sentence of transportation did not necessarlly mean that the
felon would progress any further than the hulks. For Instance,
of the numbers sentenced to transportation In England just prior
to 1819 about 30% were actually sent away. From about 1824 untl!
1846 the flgure fluctuates between 60 and 75% (see Table One).

In Ilreland the number remained at about 70% untlil 1844, (28)

A lack of available work for hulk Inmates and a shortage of
prisons (especlally In Ireland) necessitated sending away a greater
number of convicts In the latter perlod. Thus, since petty offenders
constltuted between 70 and 90% of convicted felons, and slnce such
a significant proportion of these offences were punished with
transportation, then It must follow that any Increase in the number
of actual transportations wiil contaln a signlficant number of
petty offenders.

The statistlcal evidence must lead one to conclude that a
great majorlty of the convicts throughout the perlod of transport-
ation were nothing more than petty criminals. Undoubtedly, more
serfous felons were conveyed to the penal settlements of eastern
Australlia once the death sentence w~s r :served $olely forl
murdefrers but they remalned a declded mlnorlty, before, durlng and
after the reforms in the British criminal law.

FOOTNOTES

(1) A.G.L.Shaw, Convicts and the Colonies, London, 1966, p.148.
(2) L.Robson, The Convict Settlers of Australlia, Carlton, 1970,p.8
(3) E.O'Brlen, The Foundatlon of Australla, Sydney, 1950, p.58.
¢ see also Robson, oE.cTT., p.55.

(4 L.Radztnowtcz, A Hlstory of English Criminal Law, London,
1948, Vol.l, p.I5T.
see also ppl819 (585) VIII Appendices | and 2, ppl26-139.
(5) Between 1810 and 1825 larceny charges comprised 90% of all
crimes In England. ppl827 (534) pp66-70. Clted In O'Brien,

op.clt.,p.10.

(6) Radzinowicz, op.clt., Vol.l, pp632~-633

{(7) see Holdsworth,W., A History of Engllish Law, London, 1965,
Yol . X111, pp397-40I
O'Brlen, op.clt., pp48-53.
Radzlnowlcz, op.clt., Vol.l, pp578-585.

(8) 4 Geo 4, C48 (1823).

(9) 7 and 8 Geo 4, C28 (1827).

(10) The punishment for simple larceny was transportation for
seven years or imprisonment for not more than two years.
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Radzlnowicz, op.clt., Vol.l, pp733-734,

The grand total (which Includes the perlod to 1868), Is
163,021. Robson, op.clt., p.4.

vi13) 1bid, p.9.

(14) Tbid, Tables 4a and 4k.

(15) The observance of any proportlonal changes In the Incldence
of convict offences can only be made more comprehenslible
by dlviding the transportation perlod Into two sections.

The first, from 1787 to 1819, representing the period before
criminal law reform and the second representing roughly
the era of reform from 1820 to 1852, "

(16) These 'serlous' crlimes must be assumed to Include such offences
as murder, assault, robbery with violence, rape and wil ful
destructlion.

(17) Robson, op.clt., Tables 6a and 8a.

(18) Without w%lful destruction and robbery with violence.

(19) Robson, op.clt., Tables 6a and 8a.

(z9) 1bld.

(21') Shaw, op.clt., p.160.

(22) 1Ibld.

(23) Robson, op.clt., Tables 6f and 8e.

(24) Ibld. 54% of all offences agalnst property were committed by
the 25 and under age group.

(25) J.Hart, "Reform of the Borough Pollce, 1835-1856". Engllsh

~ Historical Revlew, 1955, Vol .70, pp4l3-415.
(26) Between 1810 and 1825 larceny charges rose by 300% and
comprised 90% of all crimes In England. pp!827 (534) pp66-70.
Cited in O'Brien, op.clt., p.10.
(27) Robson, op.clt., p.§7.
(28) Sece ppl85I (572), XLVI.
BIBLIOGRAPHY
Clark,M. “The Orligins of the Convicts Transported to Eastern
Australia, 1787-1852", Hlstorlcal Studles, Vol.7,
Numbers 25-28, 1955-1957.

Filtzpatrick,B. British Imperlallsm and Australla, 1783-1833.
S.U.P. (Sydney, [971).

Hart,J. “Reform of the Borough Pollce, 1835-1856",
English Historical Revliew, Vol.70, 1955. :
Holdsworth,H. A History of English Law, Methuen, {(London, 1965).
McQueen,H. A New Brittanla, Penguin, (Melbourne, [970).
O'Brien,E. The Foundatlion of Australla, 1786-1800, Angus &
Robertson, (Sydney, 1950).

Radzlnowlcz,L. A History of Engllsh Criminal Law, Stevens & Sons
(London, 1948), 4 volumes.

Robson, L. The Convict Settlers of Australia, Melbourne
Unlverslty Press, (Carlton, 1970).

Shaw, A.G.L. "The British Criminal and Transportation",
Tasmanlan Historical Research Assoclatlon, Vol.2,

: No.2, 1953. :
Shaw, A.G.L. Convicts and the Colonles, Faber (London, 1966).
Ward,R. The Australlan Legend, O.U.P., (Melbourne, 1966).

Yonge,A.E. (ed) Halsburys Statutes of England, Butterworths, (London.

1969), Vol.8.



12.

TABLE ONE
’ - -
i A B
% 1811 - 1817 31 30
i 1818 - 1824 34 60
g 1825 - 183] 34 70
1832 - 1834 35 75
(835 ~ 1837 . 27 66
1838 -~ 1840 22 . 66
i841 - 843 19 75
|844 ~ 1846 17 66
1847 - 1848 |4 40
Column A: % of all those convlc}ed at asslzes and sesstons
who were sentenced to transportation or resplted
for it.
Column B: § sentenced who were actually transported.
Source: A.G.L.Shaw, Convicts and the Colontes, Carlton, 1970,

p.150.



TABLE TWO
e ——— e it o % e e e e o o it ¢ s+ e e
A B
e v 4 st oo - - —— —— e ————y —g——— -
‘ London & Rest of London & Rest of
Mlddlesex England Mlddlesex England
b Wales & Wales
iI811 - 1820 195 78 not ascertalned
1814 - 1820 209 89 131 58
1821 - 1829 226 105 145 74
1830 - 1835 231 131 163 93
1836 - 1839 198 145 146 |05
I830 - 1839 218 |36 156 98
1840 - 1849 208 162 157 118
Column A: the number of persons charged with ¢riminal offences
per 100,000 of population.
Column B: the number of persons convicted of criminal offences
per 100,000 of population.
Source: J.Hart, "Reform of the Borough Police, 1835-1856",

English Historical Review, 1955, Vol.70, p.413.
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JAMES MUDIE, CIVILIAN MAGISTRATE, PROPERTY OWNER -
CASTLE FORBES, PATRICKS PLAINS

by Lols Greenwell

SYNOPSIS

James Mudie, “the Floggling Major"™, was notorlous In the colony
of New South Wales durlng the 1830's for the Ill-treatment of hls
assigned servants, his rigid and unshakeable views of the purpose
of transportation, and his Implacable hatred of Governor Richard
Bourke whose enlightened views on remedial punishment cut Iinto
the very fabric of Mudie's bellefs and to whom he ascribed the reason
for his difficulties In controliing his servants and hls eventual
"forced' disposal of his property, "Castle Forbes'.

tn his vindlictliveness towards Bourke he Implicated others,
particularly Commissioner Roger Therry and Wiliiam Watt, a
Ticket-of-leave editor of the Sydney Gazette, whom he saw as In
league wlth the corrupt adminlistration. His venom was boundless

and supported at all times by his conviction of the rectitude of
his methods.:

Since the publication In 1852 of "“Uncle Tom's Cabin™, the name
of Simon Legree has been synonymous with cruelty and maltreatment
of slaves. The colony of New South Wales was established with Its
own particular brand of slavery, that of the assignment system.
Though !t was later abhorrent to many Engllishmen to think of men In
bondage and at the mercy of those entrusted with thelr physlcal
wel fare, it was apparantly considered a just and Christian act to
transport felons to the other slde of the world and there assign
them to private masters. This system fostered the emergence of an
antlipodean Simon Legree in the person of James Mudie Esq. of
Castle Forbes, who arrlved In 1822 and was granted 2150 acres of
land at Patricks Plains. The grandiloquent title of the property

was a sycophantlc gesture to Sir Charles Forbes who had been hls
patron.

The fertllie land was sown to wheat and Mudie was granted _
70 convicts as labourers and herdsman for his flocks, wlth the number
reaching 120 at harvest times.

The farm prospered and was recognized as the producer of
excellent quality grain at a high yleld per acre. Though the rather
ramshackle bulidings belfed thelr Imposing name, Mudie assumed
an arrogance even greater than that which he had possessed on his
arrival. He had been cashiered from the army and had been declared
Insolvent after involvement In a scheme to manufacture and sell
medals after Waterloo. As a result he was glven the sarcastlc title
of “Major Medalllon'. Though he quickly dropped the second part,
he proudly, though iilegally retained the "Major" for its
prestige value.

He had extremely forcefui and fixed ldeas on the reasons for
transportation and of the treatment which should be meted out to
the unfortunate convicts. He felt that "lInduligence merely Impalrs
thelr usefulness. Prolongation of punlshment I's justiflied, even
when reformation has been achleved, because [t acts as a deterrent
to the lower classes 'In England™. (1) To relnforce his views he
adopted fear of severe punishment as hls means to force the
convlicts to work long hours under poor condltions. They were
housed In hastily constructed, pooriy built shacks, were under-
nourished and were sadistically flogged for minor Infringements of
rules set by thelr master. Mudle was "Intensely proud of hils
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achlevements In creating a clivilization where hereto there had been
barbarism”. (2) Roger Therry, a barrister and Commisslioner of the
Court. of Requests, claimed that from hls convicts 'he contrived to
extract the largest amount of labour at the least possible cost”
and "looked upon perpetual punishment as the natural state of all
persons who had once erred. Thils should be contlinued even when
the judliclal sentence pronounced In England was completed®. (3)

His sadistlic, Inhuman treatment was common knowiedge In the
young colony. Dr. West, In hils "History of Tasmanla™, sald that
Mudle was '"Not fltted for the control of hls fellow countrymen...
he spoke of the men he employed In the tone of an executioner®. (4)

It was therefore Inevitable that the "Major" should come into
confllict with Governor Richard Bourke, who had arrived In the colony
In December, 1831. Here was a man "of I|iberal education...who
commanded general respect and who had talent and kindliness comblined".
(5) W.C.Wentworth sald of Bourke at his farewell that "The colony
bud been a scene of raplne, violence and dlsorder but (Bourke)
brought universal peace and prosperity. He had got rid of the pald
press, had glven up the assignment of convicts into other hands,
had Introduced trlal by jury on a more extenslve scale, had stopped
hunting men down as though they were savage beasts, had restored
relliglous equallty among all classes and had behaved magnanimously
towards those who had launched truculent attacks on his
government', (6) ‘

The views of Bourke and Mudle were thus dlametrically opposed
and the rlft began to widen, especlially when Bourke passed a law
restricting punishment of convicts to 50 lashes. The Influenttal
John Dunmore Lang, Presbyterian clergyman, poliiticlan and writer,
consldered the lash "A thoroughly degrading and brutallzing spegcles
of punlishment™, and felt that Bourke's declslon was “highly
creditable to hls sense of Justice and enllightened humanity". (7)
Mudle disagreed and also declared that Bourke "llstened to,
comforted and advised"; (8) Instead of taking Into custody, an
asslgned convict who escaped from Castle Forbes and travelled the
140 miles to Sydney with a petitlon charging Mudie wlth oppression.
Bourke's private secretary, hls son, advised the convict to return
and gave him a letter to Mudle explaining the clrcumstances and
suggesting that the master “overlook hls fault', (9) and the man
would probably mend hls ways as he seemed sorry for his misconduct.
The convict followed these instructions. Mudlie was thunderstruck
at the Governor's actlons and dated hls subsequent mlsfortunes
from the time of the Incldent. When the convict was agaln on his
pronerty Mudle had him arrested and tried before a bench of civilian
maglstrates, all landholders and masters of assigned labour, by
whom he was found gullty and sentenced to an Iron gang.

By proving himself to be the friend of the convicts, Mudle
claimed, the Governor had set the stage for rebelllion and "had
stlirred up the polson the magistrates were trying to counteract.(10)
Convicts were now Insolent and Insubordinate and Mudie attempted
to subdue thls new splrit by Increased severity. On 5th November
1833 six of his convicts, In desperation, revolted, locked up *he
absent Mudie's wlfe and servants and robbed the homestead. Now
armed, they went In search of John Larnach, Mudle's son-inlaw and
merclless overseer. He was found, and hls |1fe was threatened
but he escaped and the convicts absconded. Elght days later they
were captured and tried In Sydney. Though no provislion was made
for convicts to have counsel, an anonymous benefactor, thought
to be an emancipist, engaged the barrister, Roger Therry to
represent the men. Thelr gullt was obvlious and Therry felt that
the only excuse could be mitigating clrcumstances. The trlal
caused a sensatlion and the court was told of perpetual and excesslve
floggings which were of a nature to shock even a colony where
brutality was commonplace. "The men were In utter hopelessness
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of thelr escape from convictlon. They had repeatedly declared
before the trial that they would prefer death to return to
Castle Forbes®. (11)

When they recelved the caplital sentence, whlich was alresady
a foregone concluslon, thelr most artlculate member, Hitchcock,
begged the court to allow the men to exhiblit thelr "lacerated
backs to the publlic gaze to show what tortures they had endured”. (12)
Thelr request was refused and three of them were hanged In Sydney,
one sent to Norfolk Isiand for |1fe and the remainling two,
Hitchcock and Poole, returned to Castle Forbes In a dray and seated
on thelr own coffins. There they were hanged wl+th Mudie forcing
his asslgned servants to witness the gruesome spectacie.

The Sydney Gazette, whose editor was Willlam Watt, a ticket-
of-leave convict who had arrived on the Marquls of Hastings In
1828, falthfully reported the detalls of the trial in all Its
horror. The Sydney Morning Herald presented a much more toned
down verslion of the events "for It was the recognized organ of the
magistrates and landholders™ (13) and supported severlty as the
only way to extract value from convict labour. [t was not conslidered
that the majority of convicts were town dwellers and unused to
and often incapable of farm labour. However, followlng Hitchcock's
plea for an investigation to be held into condlitions at Castle Forbes
Bourke ordered an Independent enqulry by government Inspectors.
The result was that "a condemnation (was made) of the mode In
which assigned servants were dealt with at Castle Forbes', (14)
although the Immediate charges were unable to be proven.

Mudie's hatred for Bourke was Increased as his pride was
injured by the Investigation. The Gazette now began a campalgn
against Mudi€ which censured him for his treatment of convicts and
for the inhuman punishments meted out to those who came before him
in his capaclty of magistrate., The "Black Book™, listing charges
and sentences Imposed at Patricks Plalns durlng Mudie's magistracy
is a damning record of man's Inhumanity to man and shows
punishments of 100 lashes, 12 months on the Iron gang, and
confinement on bread and water for such crimes as "leaving the farm
when deslired not to”, '"sheep steallng" (to supplement Insufficlent
rations), and “insolence and neglect™, (i5)

Mudie pursued those he conslidered his detractors with
implacable hostility. |In particular he sought vengeance against
Watt, especially after the publicatlion of an anonymous pamphliet
In which transportation was |lkened to '"legallsed abomination
and savayery", (16) and which denounced Mudle and Larnach for
ltltreatment of convicts'. 1t was signed “Humanitas" and Mudle
was sure the author was Watt and that he was In collusion with
Roger Therry. He replied In a pamphlet vindicating himself and
Larnach and this was widely distributed.

There had long been bitter feeling in the colony against
Roman Cathollics. Both Watt and Therry were of that falth and
Therry felt that he would be entitled to "favourable remembrance"”
due to the effort he made to "Rescue my co-religionists from the
Insubordinate positieon In the political and soclal scale"” (17)
of the colony. In thls he was “strengthened and sustalned by the
authoritative ald and the power and abllity of Sir Richard Bourke",.
(18) Whilst Bourke was a Protestant, he was of irish extraction
and renowned for his religious tolerance. It Is possible that
the Calvinistic Mudie based his original antagonism towards the
three men on the grounds of thelr attitude to, or practice of,

a rellgion abhorrent to him.

A newspaper war broke out with The Gazette, largely read by
the convict and emancipist faction, opposing the views of the
Colonist, the Monlitor, and the Herald, and much bitter feeling
was engendered. Bourke cut off the government's connection
with the Gazette, which had been Instituted by Governor King In
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1803, as he felt It “was the source of many annoyances to the
administration”. (19) The sltuation worsened, however, when Watt
was charged with recelving a paper to the value of one penny
stolen from the Herald offlce. He was exonerated after belng
defended by Therry and having made many remarks at hlis trlal
derogatory to Mudle who claimed the verdict was largely due to the
Jury consisting of '"some of hls own caste - emanclpists™, (20)

a situation brought about by Bourke's enllghtened attitude to jury
reform. Mudle vowed he "would not leave In Sydney a slingle
educated prisoner, whether tlcket-of-leave or otherwlse, but would
ferret them out, root and branch". (21)

Mudle then charged VWatt with slander and "belng a notorlous
tlar and a grossly Immoral character". (22) Therry agaln offered
hls counsel, but the court denled Watt the rlight to legal ald.

He was found Innocent and Mudle clalmed the trlal was a farce
because pald pollce magistrates ralsed technlcal polnts In favour
of the accused. He accused Judge Windeyer of “belng a reflined
ea-ologlst for Infamy™, (23) and then used the court as a platform
to attack Bourke.

Reports of the trlal do seem to show colluslon of the
government and Watt for unknown reasons, and proven perjury by
government witnesses was Ignored by the pollce magistrates. Mudle
clalmed that "nelther law, nor fact, nor reason, nor rellgion were
regarded®. (24) The Colonlst reported that a splrlt had been
aroused In the colony by "The whole college of Roman Cathollic
exorcists, with Mr. Commlsslioner Therry himsel f" (25) at the head.
When Judge Kinchela, also a Cathollc, and later denounced as such
by Mudle, refused to cancel Watt's ticket-of-lecave the paper claimed
that "the monstrous doctrine of devll-worship seemed to have Infected
the Pollce Magistracy of the caplital of Australla". (26) Kinchela's
grandson later publlicly horsewhlpped Mudlie for his statements,
was taken to Court, found gullty and flned £20, whlich was Immedlately
subscribed by publlc donatlon wlithin the court room!

Bourke had no optlion but to remove Watt to Port Macquarle where
he was accldentally drowned some tIme later. The Governqr then
took the opportunlity of the new commission of 1836 to delete from
the list the names of Mudle and 35 other maglstrates. He gave them
no explanation, but wrote to Lord Glenelg, the Colonlal Secretary,
that”the Indlviduals used their power as minlsters of Justlice
to forward political Intrigue®. (26)

Mudie also corresponded with Gienelg, clalming that he had been
"degraded in the eyes of his fellow colonlists®™ (28) but Glenelg
upheld Bourke's right to refuse an explanation.

Emblttered, Mudle returned to England to clalm Justice, statling
that Bourke's decree had made 1t unsafe “or him ever %o Illve at
Castle Forbes agaln and had forced him to sell the property. (29)
There he became a principal witness at the Parllamentary Selecct
Committee Into Transportation In 1837. He violently denounced the
system and denlgrated Bourke's administration, especlally the ruling
which permltted emanclpists to serve on jJjurles, stating they were
heavily blased In favour of convicts., He claimed that all convicts
were depraved, useless and dishonest and "would swear anything for
a glass of grog". (30)

"He testlfied to anything that would blacken the reputation
of Bourke".,(31) and palnted a 'revolting plcture” (32) of Sydney
soclety. His accusations grew so wlld that the Committee ordered
part of hls evidence to be stricken from the Trecord.

His prlide was so Injured that he sought revenge by pubilishing
"The Felonry of New South Wales™, In which he blamed Bourke for tho
depravity and crime of the colony. The Colonlst reviewed the book
as ."the productlion of that indefatlgable genlus, James Mudie", (33)
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but others vlewed It with disgust, the Gazette calling It "the
farthing felonry". (34)

He claimed that the colony was so highly regarded by the
criminal element that crimes were committed with the express
purpose of transportatlon to "the land of promise" (35) and
accused Bourke of Ycriminal collusion with the convicts" (36) and
culpable relaxation of laws. HIs style became venomous when he
stated that '"the chief object of the present work Is to arraign at
the bar of publiic opinlon the conduct of hls Excellency,

General Sir Rlichard Bourke". (37) He saw the convicts as
"depraved and proflligate” (38) and the women as "the pest and
gangrene of soclety"”, (39) while the law courts were plictured as
"sinks of corruptlon and inlquity”. (40)

Bourke was Il1ttle affected by the book as he had resigned before
I+s publicatlion and Its style was such as to lead Its readers to
think of the author as deranged by his frustratlions. Bourke's
legacy was the knowledge that his work was "Flrm, falr and llberal”
at a time when "the shrlieking brutalitles of penal discipline were
at last beginning to choke on thelr own excesses’. (41)

The only legacy left by Mudle was a small creek near Slingleton
which bears hls name.

FOOTNQOTES

(1) Scone and Upper Hunter Hlstorlcal Society Journal, vol.l,
1959, p.106.
(2) C.M.H.Clark, A History of Australla, Melbourne, 1968, p.204.
43) Roger Therry, "Reminiscences of 30 Years Residence in
New South Wales and Victoria', London, 1863,
p.l165.
(4) John West, History of Tasmania, vol.l, Launceston, 1852,p.183.
(5) W.F.Morrison, History of N.S.W., vol.l, Sydney, 1888,p.[05.
(6) C.M.H.Clark, op.clit., Melbourne, 1968, p.253.
(7) J.D.Lang, A H%s?orlcal and Statistical Account of N.S.W,,
London, 1852, p.211. -
(8) James Mudie, The Felonry of New South Wales, London, 1837,p.70.
(9) Ibid, p.70.
(10) Ibid, p.70.
(11) Roger Therry, op.cit., London, 1863, p.165.
(12) Ibid, p.169.
(13) J.D.Lang, op.cit., London, 1852, p.262.
(14) Roger Therry, op.cit., London, 1863, p.169.
(15) The Black Book, (list of charges and sentences, N.S.W.
1833-1839).
C.M.H.Ciark, op.cit., Melbourne, 1968, p.209.
Roger Therry, op.clt., London, 1863, p.l44.
Ibid, p.144.
W.F.Morrison, op.cit., Sydney, 1888, p.107.
(20) James Mudle, op.cit., London, 1837, p.86.
(21) The Gazette, 12th September, 1835,
(22) The Colonist, 3rd September, 1835.
(23) James Mudle, op.clt., London, 1837, p.88.
(24) 1bid, p.104.
(25) The Colonist, 17th September, 1835.
(26) tbtd, t7th September, 1835,
(27) Historical Records of Australla, vol. XVII|, Sydney 1923, p.307.
(28) Ibid, p.310.
(29) British Parliamentary Papers, vol.2, 1837, Ireland, 1968, p.37.
(30) tbid, p.l119.
(31) C.M.H.Clark, op.clt., Melbourne, 968, p.335.
(32) The Colonlst, 31st August, 1837.
(33) Ibid.

WO~
~

I~ N .,




(34) The Sydney Gazette, 2nd September, 1837.
(35) James Mudie, op.clt., London, 1837, p.li.

(36) Ibid., p.52.
(37) Tbid., p.52.
(38) Tbid., p.lI6.
(39) Tbid., p.l22.
(40) Ibid., p. 157,
(41) Michael Cannon, “"Who's Master, Who's Man?", Melbourne, 1971,p.3I.

BIBL IOGRAPHY

L

Abbott,J .H.M,, The Newcastle Packets and the Hunter Valley,
Sydney, 1934,

Birch, Adam & MacMlllan,David S., The Sydney Scene, Melbourne, 1926.
Cannon, Michael} Who's Master, Who's Man? Melbourne, 1971.
Lang,J.D., An Hlistorical and Statistical Account of New South Wales,

London, 1852. '
Ciark,C.M.H., A History of Australla, Melbourne, |968.
Morrison,W.F., History of New South Wales, Sydney, 1888.
Mudle, James, The Felonry of New South Wales, London, 1837.
Summcrs, Ann, Damned Whores and Gods Pollice, Melbourne, 1975.
Therry, Roger, Reminliscences of Thirty Years Residence in

New South Wales and Victoria, London, 1863,

West, John, History of Tasmanla, Vol!l.l, Launceston, 1852,
Australian Encyclopedia, Vol.VIl, Sydney, 1956.
Britlsh Parllamentary Papers, Crime and Punishment, Transportation,
Vol.2, Secssion 1837, Shannon, lre, 1968,
Historical Rccords of Australla, Vol.XVIl, Library Committee of the
Commonwealth Parliament, 1923, Sydney.
Scone and Upper Hunter Historical Soclety Journal, Vol.l, 1959.
The Black Book, (List of Charges and Sentences, N.S.W., 1833-1839,
MTtchell Library).
Magistrates Bench Records, Patricks Plalns, 1835, (Mitchell Llbrary).
Ships Reglster - Convict Indents, 1827-30, (Mitchell Library).
The Australlan, 26.8.1835.
The Colonist, 1835, 1836, 1837.
Sydney Morning Herald, 1833, 1834, 1835. .
The Sydney Gazette, 1833-1840, :
The Monltor, 21.11.1835.
The Times, 1.9.1836.
Government Gazette of Now South Wales, 6.1.1836.




20-

THE AUSTRALIAN AGRICULTURAL COMPANY

by Ken Kenncdy

SYNOPSIS

A study of the early years of the Australlan Agricultural
Company. Speciflically, an Investigation of the events leading
To the suspension of Its first Agent, Robert Dawson, in an attempt
to judge who was really responsible for the problems which
occurred at the Port Stephens pastoral enterprise.

On July 5th, 1824, a letter (1) was despatched from London to
the Governor of New South Wales, Major-General Sir Thomas Brisbane.
Its senders, describing themselves as a '"Deputation of Dlirectors
on tk part of the Australlan Agriculturail Company™, (2) noted
that they had enclosed a copy of a recent Act of Parliament,

“...granting certaln Powers and Authorities fo a
Company to be Incorporated by Charter, to be called
'"The Australlan Agricultural Company', for the
Cultivation and Improvement of Waste Lands In the
Colony of New South Wales...". (3)

As well, Brisbane was Implored to recelve, from England, the Company’
newly appolnted "“principal Agent, a Gentleman of Talents and
agricultural experience® (4) who would be advised and asslisted by

"a Committee of Five Gentlemen, resident In the Colony™., (5)

Written In a tone of unbridled optimism, the letter concluded with
the assertlion that 1+,

“,...wlll be a source of real gratification to us,

to advance, to the utmost of our power, any publlc
objects connected to the Improvement and prosperlity
of the Colony, with which our own Interasts are now
so Intimately connected...”. (6)

AT this point of time it would have been qulte unnatural for
the Company to have been anything other than optimistic. WIithin
the short space of three months an approach to the Secretary of State
Earl Bathurst, had resuited in a land grant of one miillon acres
In New South Wales. Added to this was the promised support of the
colony's Governor and the resources of his administration. Further,
three of the members of tThe Committee appointed to assist the
Company's agent were, directly or through marrliage, of the Macarthur
clan whose Influence and proven success In the sphere of colonial
agriculture suggested that the Company could do |Ittle else than
proflt most handsomely, especlally 1f profits werc received In
proportion to the scope of the enterprise.

Yet, less than four years later, on March I13th, 1828, In a
letter from Parramatta, Mr. James Macarthur wrote to hls fellow
members on the Committee, .

"1 need not assure you how palnful [+ Is to me to be
compelled to report so unfavourably of the state of

the Company's Establishment. Mr. Dawson has had

many difficuities undoubtedly to contend with: and

had hls recent conduct evinced that the acknowledgements
he made to me (whllst | was at Port Stephens) of past
errors were slncere, | should have been disposed to

view them in the most favourable Il1ght, and to have
hoped that they might? have been retrieved by further
exertlons. But when | percelve him determinately

bent upon following up his own designs, In despite of

a
« %
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the oplinions of the Committec and of the controlling
authority they have ondoavourcd to interpose, | should
think 1t a disgraceful compromisc of my own character
and a wilful sacrifice of the Interests of the Company,
were | to hesitate to expreoss the opinion, | firmly
cntertain, that the only measure by which these
Interests can now be protected, Is the suspension of
Mr. Dawson®. (7)
History records that Robert Dawson was suspended and eventually
dismissced from the service of the Company. The questlon which
remalns to be answerced is whether hc was, as James Macarthur claimad,
quilty of the mismanagement of the Company's affalrs beglinning wlth
the now obvious blunder of taking up the Company's grant at
Port Stephens. .

This essay, then, wlll seek to investigate certain aspects cf
the A.A. Company, or more precisely the activities of its flrst
agent, Robert Dawson, In an attempt to reveal and analyse the factors
fcading to the fallure of the pastoral enterprise at Port Stephens.

In retrospect, It Is blatantly obvious that the Company was
launched with an Inherent flaw becausec, In a simultaneous despatch
to that sent to Governor Brisbane iIn July, 1824, the Directors
wrote to the Committee, deeming

"...1t expedient that an agent should be sent from this
Country to undertake the marnegement of the Company's
Estates In the Colony...(who) will of course reslde
upon the Grant...a Gentleman of Talents, Respectablilty
and such Agricultural and general experliaence as wlll
quallfy him to conduct with skill and actlivity an
Estabilishment of so extenslive a nature as that which Is
contemplated' . (8)

If, In all falrness to Dawson, we accept the fact that he must

have Impressed suffliclient people In England to justify hls
appolntment as the principal agent of the Company, we can hypothesize
that It Is one thing to be successful In the relatlively small-scale
sphere of English agricuiture, and qulitc another, to journey to the
antlipodes and be as equally successful In managing an enterprise

of one milllon acres, admitted by the Directors to belng "of so
extensive a nature. That Dawson was to be advised and assisted by
a five-man Committee was equally fallaclous for, In the colony,
therc existed no single person or group experlienced In Inltlating
and conducting such a grand enterprise.

Whlist Dawson prcopared himself for the voyage to New South VWales
three of the Committee, James Macarthur, Jamecs Bowman (son-In-law of
John Macarthur Sen.) and Ha nibal Macarthur, Initlated enquiries
as to the posslible slte of the Company's grant. In a despatch to
London é&n November Ist, 1824, thcy were able to report that the
Surveyor-General, John Oxley, was

it

..most friendiy to the Establishment (Oxley had been
given shares in the Company)...and he Is at presont
of the opinlon that the Liverpool Plalns is the most
deslrable and unoccupled slituation; as all the good
land and Indced almost all thc 'and near the navigable
parts of the Hunter's River Is granted. At Llverpool
Plalins he thinks half a million acres may be taken and
another half a mlilllion near the Hastings'. (9)

On that same day these three men admitted to Oxley that 1+ had not
as yet bcen ‘‘ascertained whether the finest wool can be produced
near the Sea, or In the Interlor...%. (10)

The ultimate selectlion of the grant was determined, it would
seem, not so much by human choice as geographical necessity for
on November 5th, they agreed that whilst,
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“...the Country In the vicinlty of the

Liverpool Plalins will bo found In many respects
highly desirable...its grecat distance from the
navigable part of the Hunter's Rlver...and the want
of a formed road would be serlous difficultles to °*
overcome In the Infancy of an estabilshment™. (l1])

Ultimately, a report from Atan Cunningham, that same month, appeared
to dispel any IIngering doubts the Committee may have stlill held.
This explorer described, -

“...a tract of country extending north from Hunter's
nearly one hundred miles to the Banks of the

Hastings at Port Macquarie which Is reasonable to
Infer possesses many Important local advantages...
where the future wecalth of your respectable Communlity
will be concentrated. The reports that have been
glven orally by runaway Convicts...have been hlighly
favourable to the fertllity and grassy character of
the land...". (12) ‘

Consequently, through haste or lIgnorance, or a comblnatlion of both,
the Committee had predetermined the area Into whlch Dawson would

be directed to sclect the Company's grant. Thelr most serious
error lay In the acceptancc of an explorer's oplnlon which was
based largcely on the verbal reports of escaped convicts.

Dawson's eventual arrival In tho colony prompted the Committee
to laud, "grcat credit Is reflected upon that Gentleman...In the
arduous undertaking of conveylng to such a distance so large a
number of valuable and delicate anlmals'. (13) Yet his first
communication from the Port Stephens area was to prove grimly
ironlc for it related how many of ‘“the valuable and dellcate animals"”
that had survived the long sca Journey from Europe, had been
Injured or lost on the long overland trek from Sydney.

On July 30th, 1826, some two years after the forming of the
Company, Dawson wrote of his "intentlon to take portion, iIf not the
whole, of the Australlan Agricultural Company's Grant', (i4)
in that areca extending from thec Hunter Rlver to the Hastlings.
Whilst tImc, and bltter expericence would prove thlis a dlsastrous
choice of land for primarliy fine wool growling, Dawson should not
have to suffer all the blame. Admittedly It was he who submlitted
the recquest to Governor Brisbane for a survey to legally determine
the boundaries of the grant. But, it must not be overlooked that
his choice had to be ratified by the Committee. Without extending
themselves greatly this group could have made some effort to at
least examine the tract of land chosen by Dawson and, drawlng on
what experlence they had, elther confirm or reject hils declsion.
Instead, to a man, they elected to remain In the reliatlive comfort
of their homes, eventually reporting to London on December 10th,;
1826, that, .

“"Mr. Dawson reports most favourably of the country

he has passed over, and from his description of Its
various natural resources and capablliities, we are
strongly Impressed that nothing could have becen more
fortunate than the choice of Port Stephens for our
first settlement™. (15)

So, rather than condemn Dawson for what was to prove an Inltlal
blunder, the Committee deserves blame for thelr 'rubber-stampling'
of hls choice which underlines thelr carly apathy In conductlng
the affairs of the Company.
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In the Autumn of 1827, Dawson submitted his first major report
on the state of the Port Stephens establlishment to the Committee.
In the opening paragraph he hinted at the problems belng experlenced
in the administratlion of so vast an enterprise.

"1+ was my Intention®, he remarked, "to...have

confined my Reports to reguiar and short periods.
Experience however, has proved the Impractlicability

of carrylng these Intentions fully Into effect... . (16)

Desplte the obvious enormity of the task facltg him, Dawson appeared
to have the Company's establishment progressing favourably. indead,
by the end of May, 1827, James Macarthur wrote, after visiting the
site, of the "good management of Mr., Dawson, and the conditlion of the
stock; as well as the natural advantage of the harbour and the
adjacent country™, (17)

This 'honeymoon' perlod, between the Macarthur ellite and
Robert Dawson, was soon to end, culminating in what proved to be a
concerted effort aimed at romoving Dawson from his positlon as
principal agent by allegations of his general misconduct and neglect
of Company affairs. This breakdown In relations must have been
unexpccted for, carller that month, on the 9th, Dawson sprang to
the defence of John Macarthur Senlor who had been attacked by the
Press. (n a personal communication to the London Directors,
Dawson felt himsclf,

"called upon to make some observations to you on

the recent attack made In the Australian Newspaper
upon the Committee and particularly on the character
of Mr. John Macarthur....".(18)

From the period of September 30th, 1827, to January i2th, 1828,
this 'breakdown’, originating from and confined to the Macarthur
faction, can best be traced through a chronological study of excerpts
of correspondence between Robert Dawson and John and James Maca=zthur.

{. Port Stephens, 30th Sept., 1827,
Robert Dawson to John Macarthur,
"...1 hope you havc been able to make up your mind
what sheep you can spare me...| have no wish
whatever to have your sheep Inspected because |
know what your good stock is...".(19)

2. Sydney, 16th October, 1827,
John Macarthur to Robert Dawson,
Y...altho' | could have wished that the three
flocks of Ewes which | had tendered might have been
added to the Company's flocks, yet | cannot think
of sending them to you without previous examination
and approval..”. (20)

3. Port Stephens, 24th October, 1827,
Robert Dawson to John Macarthur,
"1 am sorry you declline sending the ewes without
having them inspected - you are aware how much |
wish to have them but 1f 1+ depends upon my secing
them first | must decline them from the Impracticabllity
of my leaving the Grant for some weceks at least and
probably some months to come...™. (21)

4. Port Stephens, !3th December, 1827,
Robert Dawson to James Macarthur,
"...1 trust we are to have your father's sheep v | am
ready to make any sacrifice for them and will send
my nephew in January - or go myself the moment | can
to look at them if your father would wish me to see
them in preference’. (22)
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Parramatta, |6th December, 1827,

John Macarthur to Robert Dawson,

Y...1 certainly nelther did nor do entertaln the
lcast desire to recede from the offer | made In
the Spring and provided the sheep are Inspected
and approved elther by yourself or your nephow...
they are still at the Company's service...'. (23)

6. Port Stephens, 23rd December, 1827,
Robert Dawson to John Macarthur,
"I will send my nephew In about a fortnight to
Inspect your sheep...". (24)

7. Parramatta, |2th January, 1828,
John Macarthur to Robert Dawson,
"My son returned yesterday and | learn that your
nephew Mr. Dawson accompanied him...%to Inspect the
three Ewe~flocks which you are desirous of purchasing
from me for the Company. | have already on more
than one occaslon expressed to you my anxlety that
the Company's stock might not be Increased by
purchase more raplidly than you can provide the means
of affording that care and superintendence so
Indispensable to secure a successful and profitable
result from the possesslon of sheep and as the
report of my son upon the present state of several
of the Company's flocks makes me exceedlingly apprehensive

. That any Immediate addition to these flocks might

prove Injudiclous and unsafe¢ | hope you wili feel
no disappointment that | beg to decline selling any
sheep to the Company thls year". (25)

This sudden decislon, not to sell sheep to the Company, could
possibly be explained by the fact that, on January 8th,
James Macarthur had been '"deputed by the other members of the
Colonial Committee to lay before them a detalled report of the
Company's establlishment™, (26) due to the brevity and Iinfrecuency
of reports from Dawson. As a result of Macarthur's report the
Committee, on March Ist, resolved, "that Mr. Dawson be required
to repalr, without loss of time, to Sydney, for the purpose of giving
such further explanations, as appear to the Commlttee to be
Indispensable...". (27) Exactly one week later, having recelved
this directlive, Dawson provokingly replled,

...l feel It to be a duty which | owe both to the
Directors and myself, under such clrcumstances,

not to answer verbal questions, or to glve any

verbal explanations upon the Company's affalrs except
at Port Stephens®. (28)

Dawson's blunt statement of bellef in his 'duty' to the
'Directors'!, and no mentlon of such to the Committee, coupled wlith
his emphatlc refusal to travel to Sydney, only served to worsen
his already precarious positlon. In effect, James Macarthur
was left unchallenged to put forward his l|list of charges based on
his observations at Port Stephens. His letter, to the Committee
on March 13th, asserted,

"...that the greater part of the Merinos appeared

to me to be nearly In a hopeless state...The Fifth
Flock were In mliserable condition...(and) | am at

a loss to account for the deterloration and extenslive
mortallty...".(29)

Far more serlous was the charge that Dawson had fostered the,

"...foundatton of a New Settlement on the Manning River...
a tract of 16,000 acres was pencliled off on the north
bank and marked "Dawson'...undertaken without any
references to the Interests of the Company...%.(30)
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Any glimmer of hope for Dawson most certalnly vanlshed when the
Committee called a meeting of the proprietors of the A.A. Company
resliding In Sydney. They met on March 21lst, “to be acqualinted wlth
the present state of the Company's affalrs at Port Stephens®. (31)
Towards the end of the meetIng, evidence was gliven by the Company
surveyor, Mr. Armstrong, who attested that during the previous
October he had been dlirected by Dawson to undertake an expeditlion
to the Manning River area on behalf of a "Mr.Gulldlng and
principally for his benefits'. (32)

Apart from the grave nature of thls assertion, In relation to
the latter charge of Manch 13th, some light Is shed on Dawson's
"inability' to leave Port Stephens during the previous October for
the purpose of Inspecting the Macarthur flocks at Camden prior to
purchase. I+ would appear that Dawson was more concerned with
furthering his personal Interests than overseeing the pressing
affalrs of the Company. Flinaily, on March 27th, the Committee
recorded, )

“That it Is currently reported and generally

understood at Port Stephens, that the late expeditlion

to the Manning was 'got up' for the private purposes

of Mr. Dawson and Mr. Gullding - that the Company's

men (slx) were engaged in the cultivation of Mr.Guiiding's
Grant...That a frece man...was engaged...In the service

of Mr. Guilding - that this man's wages were pald by a
draft upon the Committee, which was made out by him

and slgned by Mr., Dawson'. (33)

One day after Dawson was suspended, on Aprii{ 19th, 1828,.
James Bowman wrote to his father-in-law, John Macarthur Senlor
requesting him "to undertake the general direction of the concerns
of the Company's Estate, until the Directors have made such
arrangements as they may deem necessary'. (34) The enormity of
the task undertaken by John Macarthur was reallsed almost Immedlately
by this man for, on the 2ist of April, he requested the asslstance
of a "deputation of three Gentlemen", (35) to help In the
administration of the grant.

Unfoetunately, for Dawson, Macarthur was placed In a poslition
to intercept two letters written by Gullding to Dawson on April 17th,
the day prlior to the suspenslon notice. Macarthur excused himself
for opening and reading the private correspondence betwsen the two
friends, in a letter to Governor Darling on May i6th, 1828, Almost
apologetically he described how,

"Amidst the palnful duties which clrcumstances have
Imposed upon me It would have been some rellef had

they been confined to the correction of neglilgence

and mis-management. But | am concerned to say that

my enquirles and other clircumstances have led to the
discovery of a premeditated abandonment by the Company's
Agent of the trusts reposed In him and to which | am
of the oplinion he has been Incited by a magistrate of
this Territory... Between these two persons there Is a
Variety of Proofs that a mysterlous Union of Interests
has been formed and carried to an extent which In my
opinion Imposes on the Committee the obligatlon to
consult the best Law Authori+ty In the Colony whether
such acts are not cognizable by a Court of Justice.
This however relates only to the extent In which the
Iinterests of the Company are lInvolved; of 1ts effects
upon the publlic characters of our Maglistrates, It would
be presumptive of me to offer any further opinion
convinced as | am that your Excellesncy will take every
needful precaution to secure the honour of the Colonial
Magistracy from degradation. (36):
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Whilst It [siimpossible to argue agalnst the damning evidence
Guilding had Inadvertently confided In hls letters to Dawson, It
Is just as dlfflicult to plcture John Macarthur as a paragon of virtue,
mindful only of protecting the 'Colonial Maglstracy'. Equaliy, with
the administration of the grant In John Macarthur's hands, the
Committee must have looked more optimlistically towards the future
and the expected upturn In the Company's fortunes. It must have
come as a great shock when the Company Secretary, Mr.W,Barton¥,
reported on the 30th August, to London that,

"The numerous Instances of mismanagement under

Mr.Dawson have already been detalled...but In the
suspenslion of that Gentlieman and the Introduction

of a more efficlent system - the errors that were
stated to exist at that time are however to a
conslderable degree retalned...and (since) the
departure of Mr. James Macarthur no requisitlions,

or orders of any descriptlion are forwarded to thls
offlce...that an almost total suspension of communication
wlith Port Stephens has taken place...(and) The business
at Sydney Is conducted In an equally unsatisfactory
manner as at Port Stephens...|t has appeared to me that
the Committee have not rlightly understood the nature
and extent of the powers conceded to them by the
Company and that thls has In a conslderable degree
contributed to the present dlsorders". (37)

Whllst thls letter does not offer an excuse for Dawson's fallure to
devote hlimself fully to the pursuance of the Company's Interests,
I+ most certalniy suggests that there was a conslderable degres

of apathy, Indeed negligence, on the part of the Committee In
carryling out the dutles to which they were assligned.

Less than one month later, Barton agaln ftook the Committee and
John Macarthur to task In a most damnling condemnatlon of thelr
actions. In a letter to the Dlrectors, he wrote,

"I trust they will not hesltate a moment In adopting
some declslve course In the systom of management that
shall arrest the progress of the present dlsorders
for | should not disclose the extent of the fears
which |t with others entertaln were | to state less
than my bellef that the two present partles are
destructive of the Interests |If not of the exlistence
of the Company®. (38)

Barton's final criticlsm of the Committee was communicated to London
on October 9th, and whiist agaln not takling Dawson's slde It
nevertheless confirmed that he alone should not singuliarly shoulder
the blame.

“| do belleve", asserted Barton, "that Mr.Dawson has
forfelted, by his conduct, the confldence whlich was

so entlirely conflded in him by the Dlrectors...Some

of the charges are hastily If not erroneously made

and | submit that almost the whole of the evils
complained of might have been arrested under the system
of management proposed by the Directors had that system
been enforced™. (39)

Barton's observations, therefore, offer perhaps the most
objectlive reasonling behind the Company's fallure. He, In no way,
sought to excuse Dawson, for Dawson's actions in connectlion with
the Manning River estate and John Gullding are gquite Inexcusable.
Equally, he docs not lay the blame wholly on the Committes,
preferring Instead, to polint to the fact that they were largely
apathetlc towards their responslibillities untlil I+ was far too late.
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The London office announced, on April 7th, 1829, that
“Mr .Macarthur had given up the Superintendence of the Company's
Establishment at Port Stephens..." (40) and the final chapter,
In this pai ticular episode of the Company's history, was written

on June 27th, by James Macarthur when tendering his own resignation
from the Committee.

This lotter virtually acknowledged that all that Barton had
sald was true, especially In relation to the Committee which,
according to Macarthur,"was not only exposed to observations from
the near connexion of+the members with each other, but was In
real ity rendered less efflclient than was originally T
contemplated”. (41) Due to the relativeliy vast distances separaflng
each of the Committee members and the assocliated problems of
communication, Macarthur could offer, as the only excuse for the
Committee's apathy, thc reason that,

"The confldence...reposed In Mr.Dawson from .his
previous reputatlon and the high testimonial
transmitted to us by the Court of Directors,
Induced us to belleve that there was not Illkely

to be...any Injurlious consequence to the Company's
interests...". (42)

In 1907, Jesse Gregson, General Superintendent of the
A.A. Company from [876 to 1905, completed the writing of the flrst
fifty years of the Company's hlistory. HIis summatlion, of the events
under study in this essay, is, |like Barton's, quite Impartial and
senslibly reallstic. o

"1+ may, | think', wrote Gregson, '"be accepted wlithout
dlspute that Mr.Dawson was not the most fortunate
selection for the position he had to fill, and that
In the matter of the Manning River iand he was especlally
blameworthy - though In saying this it must not be
supposed that | conslder his conduct amounted to
dlshonesty...But admitting these faults and fallures
on the part of the Agent I+ must be remembered ‘that he
recelved very l1ttle assistance and advice from the
focal committee...l think Mr.Dawson recelved scant
justice at the hands of the dlrectors; for, 1f the
so-called evidence brought before them in support of
the local committee's actlions be examined, nothlng,

In my opinion, will be found worse than errors of
Judgement, errors which anyone might easily have made
under similar condlitlons and which would probably

have been rectifled with further experlence and a

littie kindly advice. Let anyone who knows what

country Ilfe In New South Wales at the present day
consists of, consider what he might have done If,

|Tke Mr.Dawson, he had been sent to an utterly unknown
district, and expected to avold all mistakes, and within
the space of two years to have formed an sstabTishment,
comprising upwards of 400 people, governed and controlled
on unaxceptlonable principles”. (43)

I+ Is difficult not to agree with the views put forward by
Barton and Gregson. Both men were Intimately connected with the
Company and neither had any reason to take the cause of
Robert Dawson In favour of that of the Committee. Both men wrote
their views at quite different times, yet thelr concluslons are
so allke, that Dawson was largely a victim of unforseen circumstances
that the Committee was largely apathetic iIn assisting Dawson,
which tends to make any modern day appralsal somewhat blased I1f
blame Is directed singularly towards one particular party.
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THE SQUATTING WOMEN OF AUSTRALIA

‘ [}

by Sally Kinsley

SYNOPSIS

Frederlck Jackson Turner (1861-1932) flirst emphaslised the Impact
of a wliliderness environment on a transpianted clvillzation. He saw
that free land on the frontler, drawlng men away from European
Iinfluence, helped bulld a new Americanism. Frontier tralts of self-
rellance and Individuallsm, and a "restless energy that comes with
freedom" left thelir Imprint on soclety. Russel Ward In
The Australian Legend relates Turner's ideas on the signlficance of
the frontler fo the development of Australla. He states that In
contrast to America the Australlan frontler was Inimlical to the
small farmer. The nature of the pastoral Industry, the country's
staple, and the great though decreasing scarclty of white women
in the outback brought into belng an Itinerant rural proletariat,
overwhelmingly masculline In composition and outlook. Thus
he draws a plcture of the typlical bushman as a wanderlng Individual s+
McQueen, however, In A New Britannia suggests in fact that many
may have had farms closer In and only have gone outback for a reason.
Therefore they were not necessarlly Ward's collec¢tivists but were
just as much small farmers as on the American frontler. To support
his argument that many bushmen had a farm and family |ife McQueen
presents evidence such as Henry Lawson's story "The Drover's Wife*,
This story and the new Ii1ght which McQueen's theory sheds brings
to attentlon the existence of a new class of people, that Is, the
bushman's wlves or the squatting women. The posltion of part-time
wlfe and part-time boss they had to fulfil and the qualitles that
thelir pecullar |ifestyle exacted from them must have recognition.

In recent years the significance of the frontler In relatlion
to the history and development of a country has recelved Increasing
attention. F.J. Turner (1861-1932) first recognised the tremendous
influence of fpontler conditions In America on molding the-llfestyle,
and the attitudes of Its people. Since new countries |lke
Australia and the United States were settled by Europeans, the
natural tendency of historlians was to explain development in terms
of successive Influences from Europe. The achlevement of Turner's
theory was to show that Indlgenous and particularly 'frontier!
Influences were of major Importance In any just understanding of
American history. Turner reasoned, In so far as the American was
not Just a transplanted European but a dlifferent kind of man, the
change could only have been brought about by changes met within the
new land. And thus he recognlised a new Americanlism based on
frontler tralts of self-rellance, restless energy, and 'that
exubrance' that comes with freedom. American 'Individuallism',
especlally, was seen as traceable to the small Independent farmers
produced by a conjuncture on the frontler of favourable cllimatic
condltlions and the Homestead Acts.

As In America, these Indigenous Influences must be seen as most
potent on the expanding frontler of Australia where they were met
by colonists In thelr most undiluted form. However, there exists
two opposling schools of opinion concerning the type of natlonal
ethos which.developed as a result of these Influences, those of
Ward and McQueen. In hls book The Australlan Legend, Russel!l Ward
reverses the Amerlican picture glven by Turner, clalming that the
faliure of the Free Selectlon Acts and the hostlility of the
Australlian frontier to the small farmers forced the typlcal
Australlan to accept collectivist notlons:
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"The plain fact Is that the Australian frontlersman
In the last century was a wage worker who did not
usually expect to become anything else....hls economic
Iinterests, unlike those of the American frontiersman
relnforced this tendency towards a soclal, collectivist
outliook™. (1)

McQueen, In A New Briltannlia, disputes thls theory and suggests,

In fact, that many bushmen may have had farms and a family life closer
in. That Is, they were not necessarily Ward's collectivists but
were Just as much small farmers as the American frontlersman. |f
McQueen's argument Is valid, recognition must be given not only to
the bushmen of the frontler but also to the ploneer wlives - not
those that have their names carved out in the hlistory books of
Australia like the famous 'Mary of Maranoa', but those left In the
background to work a farm and raise a family. The typical, yet the
unobtruslive, such as the unknown drover's wife depicted by

Henry Lawson deserves consideration.

In the Australian Legend Ward argues that the typlcal bushman
was a wandering Individuallst, a nomad with no tles but those of
mateship. He states that this had to be the case because, In
contrast to America, frontler conditlons were inimical to the small
settler. In the United States favourable geographical conditlons
of solil, ralnfall and relatively accessible markets combined with
nineteenth century land leglislation, which culminated Iin the
Homestead Act of 1862, made It posslible for a poor man, backed by
hlis wife and famlily, to obtain a Ilving from the sofl. However,
In Australla Ward argues that conditlions were such that a bushman
might by

"loyal comblnation with his fellows win
better conditlons from hls employer but the
posslibillty of hls becoming hls own master by
Indlvidual enterprlise was wually but a remote
dream". (2)

The harsh facts of Australian geography, that Is, scanty railnfall
and great dlistances, ensured that most of the habitable land could
be occupled only sparsely and by pastoralists. The effect of these
Imitatlons, Ward goes on to polnt out, was further accentuated by
government land pollicies and leglislatlon. British manufacturers
wanting increasingly more wool for the Yorkshire textlile mills meant
that, from at least 1828 onwards, the effect, 1f not always the
Iintentlon, of legisliation was to favour the blig pastoralists. The
failure of the Free Selectlon Acts almed at 'unlocking the land'
bears testimony to thls fact. Thus geographical factors, comblined
wlith nineteenth century economlic condltions, ensured that the
typlcal station should be a very large unit, employing many casual
hands, but owned by a single man or a company of substantial caplital.

Because of thls, Ward argues most bushworkers seem to have felt
that there was |Ittle polint In saving money, as they belleved it
almost Impossibly difflcult for a poor man to become a landowner,
even In a small way. He glives the example that from 1831 when l|and
normally sold for five shiliings an acre a shepherd who saved every
penny of hls wages could only purchase hls own 'block' after seven
years and that perlod of time again would be requlired in order ot
obtaln sufflclent working caplital. (3) Supporting Ward's argument
Alexander Harris, author of Settlers and Convicts, cltes bad land
leglslation as the princlpal cause of the proverblial thriftlessness
of the pastoral proletariat. And Niel Black, landowner, commenting
on this aspect of hls workers lives, wrote

"Yet If they did not go regularly to the Grog shop
we should have no labour at all, they would save and
have properties of thelr own'. (4)

To Ward then

"+he typlcal Australian frontiersman was not a small,
individualist farmer, flll]ng his own soll with the
help of his family...Indeed he usually had no family
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and scorned agricultural pursuits®. (5)
In fact he goes on to say,

"So far from belng 'precipltated by the wilderness
into a primitive organisation based on the famlly',

he was preclpitated Into an equally primitive
organisatlion of ‘'nomad tribesmen', If one may concelve
a tribe without women and children®. (6)

In support of his vision of the bushman as a | cne figure wlthout
a wife or family Ward draws attention to what he calls the 'famlna.
of females! In the Interlor. in 1851, for Instance, In the remote
district of Maranoa there were sixty-five single males over thirteen
years and no single women of the same age group. (7) Taken from
census returns a table fllustrating the proportion of males to
females In the white population for the years 1841 and 1851 Is
located In the appendix. From these figures, assuming women to be
distributed evenly through the different groups of outback
population, Ward calculated that four out of every seven men of
that period would be doomed to bachelorhood. In reality, Ward states
the proportion of single men among the pastoral labourers would be
veiy much higher since the few marriageable girls would be
attracted to those with land or steady work. *(8)

in summary, ¥Ward sees frontiler conditlions as fostering and
Intenslifying the growth of a distinctlively Austral ian outlook, an
outlook strongiy egalitarian In nature and characterised by
sentiments of group solidarlity and loyalty. He polints to
environmental pressures as the cause of such behaviour, stating
that the 'difficulties' of outback |ife made the practice of a
collectivist 'mateship’' essential just as abundance of basic
foodstuffs made 1t possible. The bush hosplitality, so characteristic
of the Australian outback, represented 2 kind of primltive communism.
Thus he pictured the typlical Australlian bushman as a wage-earner
rather than a landowner, an individual wandering where work took
him with no tles of wife or family; but, bound by hls economic
interests and the loneliness and hardships of outback life towards
3 soclial collectivist outlook.

McQueen, on the other hand, sets out an argument In
A New Britannia which suggests that many bushmen may have had a farm
and family life close In. He claims that the downfall In Ward's
theory is his fallure to realise that I+ was not necessary for
bushmen to have thelr farms beyond Bourke. They could far more
easlly have one closer to the settled areas and only go outback
for the shearing season.(9Evidence for this Is not lacking. Such
seems to be the case In Louls Esson's "The Shearer's Wife:

"Before the glare o' dawn | rise
To mlilk the sicepy cows, an' shake
The droving dust from tlred eyes.
| set the rabbit traps, then bake
The Children's bread
There's hay to stook, an' beans to hoe,
Women must work, when men must go
Shearlng from shed to shed"'. (10)

The same situation Is present In Henry Lawson's story 'The Drover's
Wife' where the husband apparently spends six months of the year
belng a bushman and the other half trying o run a farm. He was a
squatter but '"the drought of 18- rulned him", (Il) and so to earn
money to keep a famlly he goes droving. For, as Ward himself
states, the labour scarclty far 'up the country' meant that wages
were usually higher In the bush. The outback, In fact, offerad
something nearly approaching absolute economic securlity. Huge
quantities of mutton, damper and tea and sufficlient rough slop
clothing were always avallable to competent workmen
unencumbered by wife or chlildren. (12) Thus It seems |lkely that
because of the higher wages and sel f-sufficient |ife that the
outback offered many men may have used It as a means to earn and
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save money with the alm of supporting a farm and family elsewherea.
Franclis Adams explalns that the bushman's
"vislts to the township are with a view of
entering hls cheque to his account, or of
forwarding it by post office order to his

'old woman' at the homestead hundreds of miles
away'. (13)

Anthony Troilope who travelled extenslvely In the outback and spent
some months In 1871, and again In 1875 on sheep statlons wrote:
"The bulk of the labour Is performed by a nomad
tribe, who wander In quest of their work, and are i
hired only for a time. This Is of course the
case in regard to washing sheep and shearing them...
For all these operations temporary work Is required
and the squatter seidom knows whether the man he employs
be marrled or singie. They come and go, and are
known by quecer nickhames or are known by no names
at all. They probably have their wives elsewhere and
return to them for a season®. (14)

v an Interview recorded at Singleton on the seventeenth of
April 1976 Mrs. Eric Robinson presented further evidence in
support of McQueen's argument. She stated that her grandfather
Robert Sinderberry, owner of an orchard at Camberwell, supplemented
his income by droving in the off-season leaving his wife, Ellen,
alone to cope with the farm in his absence. The census returns
recorded in the appendix couid tally with such an explanation
showing a higher percentage of females In those counties within
the boundaries, that is in the more closely settied districts
proportionately equal to males.

Thus in McQueen's opinion the bushman was not as landiess
as Ward makes out. For Instance in the Riverina In 1891 there
was general rellef amongst the striking dray drivers on learning
that fines Imposed could be taken only from wages and not from
property, suggesting that tn this area, at least, the bushman was
recelving an Incomc from the land. In the far north gold miners
opposcd the use of kanaka labour on sugar plantations on the
grounds that It made possible the establishment of large estates
and thus Iiimited their prospects of beccoming cane farmers. And
McQueen states that this ambition for land was not peculiar %o 2
particular group but extended to the townsfolk. There existed
a general feelling among the socliety of the time that the soill was
the source of a '"Blokes' rcdemption from larrickinhood. (15)
McQueen states that although Australia was, In places, a blg man's
country these were not where the bulk of the non-urban population
lived and worked. For example South Australia below the
line was deliberately a small holders' frontier. And important
pockets in the south west of Western Australia, Tasmania,
Glppsland, the Darling Downs and the Riverina alil confirm the
possibllity of landed proprietorship in Australla.

S.H.Roberts, author of The Squatting Age In Australia, agrees
with Ward that the smali men In the Australla of thlis tIime had a
hard lot but goes on to say that the bush offered opportunity.
He draws a picture of the average squatting estabiishment as two
slab huts, a tumble down wool shed and a couple of rougher out
stations. The absence of security over land preventing any sane
man from constructing a permanent home or improvements. In @&n
environment such as thls Roberts states that theoretically, @
squatter would boast of his garden and his intentlon to plough
some ten acres and would dream of a small barn and dalry but
these very rarely came to pass. (16) However, one begins to wonder
whether these were merely the 'dreams' of the squatter as Roberts
suggests, or whether there was Indeed some reality in them.
Especlially in the light of Roberts next statement that living
conditions for iong remained unbelilevably hard "even more so" than
the uncertalnty of tenure warranted. (17) Possibly the squatter
didn't worry about Improvements because for him this was only
a temporary existence, hls stable home being located elsewhere,
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a home which more than |lkely consist of the ten acres and the
dalry doscribed. Thus Roberts draws a very important point for
McQueen's argument. That is, that the 11lfe of a squatter was
usually a sordid, filthy exlistence:

"It was a penal servitude of the worst type
.there Is no romance in monotony and mutton fat'; (i8)

with the sole return of such an exlistence being monetary. Money
to perhaps fulfil or keep golng the dream.

In welghing the two oplinions of Ward and McQueen evidence
suggests the valldity of the argument set out by McQueen, especlally
in the light of tnconsistancies within Ward's work. For Instance
in defending the code of bush morals In his book The Australlian
Lcgend Ward quotes a squatter, Thomas Major, to the effect
that the bushman

“"with all his faults he not infrequentiy marries
and settles down to farming and raising children...".(19)

Yet, some fifty pages later, Ward states In contradiction, that
tie typical Australian frontiersman was a wage=-worker with the
possibility of hls becoming his own master by individual
enterprise usually only a remote dream. (20)

|f we accept McQueen's theory, that the ploneer bushman was
not the wandering individualist that Ward plctures but, in fact,
the owner of a small farm and family, one must look at the role
played by women on the frontier of Australia. The history books
tell of ploneer women fighting side by side with thelr husbands
to carve a path in the wilderness; McQueen's theory suggests
that the frontier created a second type of woman, those that the
men left behind to work a farm and rear a famlly. These women had
to take on a dual role - that of managor and worker, and wife and
mother - and play both with dedication and determination. The
'shearer's wife'! simply accepts the fact that

"Women must work, when men nrust go
Shearing from shed to shed". (21)
Hcr day started before the 'glare o' dawn'. She must do the “work
of two, milking, trapping and cultivating on the one hand and
baking and darning on the other. 'By the time evening comes she
is tired with "labour sore®. However, the poem suggests a
tiredness beyond the fatiguc of labqur;

"Tired of the bush, tThe cows, the gums,

The moon ls Ionely In the sky, .
The bush is lonely, an' lonely |

Stare down the track no horse draws nigh

An' start.....at the cattie bellis". (22)

In these few lines the loneliness and the monotony of the
i1fe of these wives Is felt. '"Wives' In the sense that they have
the responsibilities of such a pesition. They had a home and
children to tend and look after, but, derived few of the fradl+lonal
benefits of married life such as companlonshlp, dependency or .
securlty. It Is hard to Imagine in today's socliety the sense of
total Isolation they must have experienced. Henry Lawson's
'drover's wlfe', for instance, Is alone with her children In a two
roomed house bullit of rough timber, sliabs and stringy bark.
She is surrounded by bush:

.the everlasting, maddening sameness of the
stunted trees - that monotony which makes a man
long to break away and travel as far as trains
can go, and sall as far as ships can sall - and
further®., (23)
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The nearest sign of clvillzation, a shanty on the maln road, Is nineteen mlles

away. Lliving In such a manner, she has not heard from her husband In six
months, and is anxlous about him.

Russel Ward In The Australlian Legend talks of the hardships and lonelliness
the typical bushman experlenced and the strong bonds of mateshlp which
developed between such men because of these hardshlips. He talks especlally of
the tradition that a man should have his own speclal 'mate' with whom he
shared money, goods, and secret aspirations, and for whom, even when In the.
wrong he was prepared to make almost any sacrifice. However, Ward falls to
recognise the exlstence of women such as the 'drover's wife' for whom even
the compensatlon of frilendshlp with other females was denied. Thelr only
pipeline to the worid was thelr husbands who could be absent for as long as
elghteen months. (24) Henry Lawson In his story deplcts the condition of
such women with a simplicity and clarity that leaves a vivid Impression.

'The Drover's Wife' contalns no hintof an over-sentimentallsed treatment but
rather embodies a plain statement of life as It was. In the absence of her
husband the fgaunt sun-browned bushwoman' must deal wlth chlldbirth, death,
flre, flood and,as the story relates everyday threats such as appearance of a
deadly snake. Throughout the whole work there pervades a sense of resignation.
The wife accepts her lot. 'No use fretting', she says. Her husband may forget
sometimes that he Is married, but 1f he has a good cheque when he comes back
he witl give most of it to her. (25) However, underneath, there is a declded
dissatisfaction, a longlng for all those things most women possess. For the
drover's wife all her exclitement and recreation must be found In the 'Young
Ladles Journal'. On Sundays it is ritual that she dresses herself and the
children for a walk, taking as much care tfo make them look as smart as If

they were to do the block In the clty. However, Lawson takes care to polnt
out how pathetically wistful the exerclise was because there was nothing to

seec and not a soul to meet:

'You might walk twenty miles along thls track without being
able to fix a polnt In your mind'.(26)

Mrs. E. Roblnson of Singleton ililustrates the |1fe of these women more
fully with a first-hand account of the life of her grandmother, Mrs. Ellen
Sinderberry of Camberwell. She states that her grandmocther was a bushnurse

and in her husband's absence would ride as far as twenty mlies alone fo some-
one In need of her services. She had no professional tralning, all her know-
ledge belng passed to her from the former nurse, 'Granny Baldock'. Thls,

Mrs. Robinson states, occurred In most cases. Services were usually voluntary
and not only did the bushnurse tend the sick but in a majority of cases she
also ran the home of those that were Ill. Slckness, and especlally chiidbirth,
Mrs. Roblnson states, was one of the major fears. She relates how many times
a woman weak, and wlith chlld, would arrive at her grandmother's, having had
the baby, often without shelfter, on the way to find help and assistance from
the bushnurse. In 'The Drover's Wife' Lawson relates how the mother once rode
nineteen miles for asslstance carryling her dead chlld and how her last two
chlldren were born In the bush, one while her husband was bringing a drunken
doctor, by force, to attend her. (27)

Thls was the 1ife of many of Australia's ploneer women. Not one of
glory or fame but unobtrusive, and beset with the hardshlps of everyday
existence In a hostile environment. Women playing a part time role as wives,
but for the majority of time, alone.

'An! start ... at the cattle bellis', (28)

The quallty of thelr life Is perhaps best expressed by Lawson's 'dirty-legged
boy' who, throwing his arms around his mother, exclalims

'Mother, | won't never go drovin; blast me 1f | do!'29

In conclusion, Russel Ward's The Australlan Legend presents a picture
of the bushman as a wandering Indlvidualist forming part of a 'nomad tribe’
which was overwhelmingly mascullne In composition and outlook. He sees thls
singular social group as possessing an ethos, uniquely Australian, derlved
from the struggle to come to terms with thelr frontier environment. However,
the ethos which Ward presents in his book and which has become such a valuable
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expression and symbol of Australlan nationalism, |s inadequate In that it
precludes the possibiilty that women might also have played an Important role
on the frontier other than as mere appendages of thelr husbands. |t is In
McQueen's argument which states that many bushmen may have had a farm and
family |ife that one sees the squatting women, lone ploneers on the frontier
I1ke the 'famours' bushmen, left alone, whlle thelr husbands were occupied

droving or shearing, often for months at a time, to cope with the same
hostile environment.
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APPENDI X

0.

Proportion of Males to Females In White Population

(N.S.W. excluding Port Phillip)

in 1841 and 1851

Per Cent of

Males Females Total Males
County of Cumberliand -
1841 33,736 24,345 58,108 58.0
1851 42,035 39,079 81,114 5.8
Other Countles within
-the Boundarles -
1841 33,322 14,126 47,448 70.2
1851 44,975 33,457 78,432 57.3
Squatting Districts -
1841 7,551 l,494 9,045 83.5
19,219 8,478 27,697 69.4




